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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN TELEVISION SETS, Inv. No. 337-TA-910
TELEVISION RECEIVERS,
TELEVISION TUNERS, AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

ORDER NO. 16: GRANTING-IN-PART COMPLAINANT’S MOTION TO COMPEL
SAMSUNG’S PRODUCTION OF ALL RESPONSIVE
INFORMATION REGARDING TUNERS USED IN SAMSUNG
TELEVISION S

. (June 2, 2014)

On May 16, 2014, Complainant Cresta Technology Corporation (“Complainant”) filed a

motion to compel Respondents Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and Samsung Electronics

-America,Inc. (collectively “Samsung”) to produce all responsive infonnation concerning tuners

used in Sarnsung’s televisions. (Motion Docket No. 910-009.) On May 28, 2014 Samsung filed

its opposition to Complainant’s motion. That same day, Commission Investigative Staff

(“Staff ’) filed its response to Complainant’s motion. Complainant certifies that it made a

reasonable, good faith effort to resolve the dispute with Samsung at least two business days

before filing the motion pursuant Ground Rule 3.2.

I. POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. Complainant’s Motion

Complainant states that its Complaint identified tuners manufactured by Silicon

Laboratories Inc. (“Silicon Labs”) and MaxLinear, Inc. (“MaxLinear”) as infringing

Complainant’s patents. (Compl. Mot. at 2.) Complainant avers that Cornp1ainant’sInterrogatory

Nos. 13-17, and 19, and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19 to Sarnsung Werebroad enough to
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cover Samsung’s televisions that incorporate both Silicon Labs tuners and MaxLinear tuners.

(Id. at 2-3.) Complainant states that after receiving notice from Samsung that Samsung would

interpret the discovery requests to cover only Samsung televisions incorporating Silicon Labs

tuners, Complainant clarified in a meet and confer that it was also seeking infonnation

concerning Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners. (Id. at 3.) Complainant states

that Samsung indicated it would only produce information concerning Samsung televisions

incorporating MaxLinear tuners in response to additional interrogatories specifically addressing

MaxLinear tuners. (Id. at 4.) Complainant states it then served Complainant’s Interrogatory

Nos. 55-57, which requested information concerning all Samsung televisions and their

incorporated tuners imported into the United States. (Id. at 4-5.)

Complainant argues that the scope of discovery in a section 337 investigation is defined

by the notice of investigation and not by the complaint. (Id. at 6.) Complainant argues that the

Notice of Investigation in this case instituted a broad investigation into products that infringe

Complainant’s patents and did not distinguish between MaxLinear tuners used by Samsung and

MaxLinear tuners used by other Respondents. (Id. at 6-7.) Complainant argues that even though

it did not specifically identify Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners as accused

products in its Complaint, it nevertheless identified MaxLinear tuners as infringing products and

that Samsung has been on notice that any product that incorporates MaxLinear tuners is covered

under the Investigation. (Id. at 7-8.)

Complainant also argues that it is entitled to information concerning tuners manufactured

by parties other than Silicon Labs and MaxLinear. (Id. at 8.) Complainant states that Samsung’s

use of non-infiinging tuners is relevant to the analysis of public interest considerations. (Id.)

Specifically, Complainant states that Sa.msung’suse of non-infringing tuners would undercut
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Samsung’s contention that an exclusion order would threaten the supply of flat-screen televisions

available to consumers. (Id.)

B. Samsung’s Opposition

Samsung avers that Complainant has only met and conferred with Samsung conceming

LnterrogatoryNo. 13, and specifically the issue of whether information regarding Samsung

televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners is discoverable. (Samsung Opp. at 1-2.) Samsung

argues that Complainant’s motion should therefore be limited to the issue of whether Samsung

televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners are within the scope of the Investigation. (Id. at 3.)

Samsung argues that Interrogatory No. l3 explicitly limits the scope of the interrogatory to

Samsung televisions that incorporate Silicon Labs tuners. (Id. at 4.) Samsung avers that during

discussions between the parties about Interrogatory No. 13, Complainant admitted it was limited

to Silicon Labs tuners and stated it may serve new discovery requests concerning MaxLinear

tuners. (Id. at 5.) Samsung argues that because Interrogatory No. l3 is explicitly limited to

information concerning Silicon Labs tuners, Complainant’s motion with respect to that

interrogatory should be denied. (Id. at 6.)

Samsung avers that Complainant never requested a meet and confer about Interrogatory

Nos. 14-l7, 19, and 55-57 and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19 before filing its motion. (Id.

at 6.) Samsung avers that it has offered to meet and confer with Complainant on the proper

scope of those discovery requests and that Complainant admits its motion is limited to the

discrete issue of WhetherSamsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners are discoverable.

(Id. at 6.) Samsung argues that Complainant’s motion with respect to those discovery requests

should be denied for failure to comply with Ground Rule 3.2. (Id. at 6-7.)

Samsung argues that Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners are outside the

scope of discovery. (Id. at 7.) Samsung argues that the Complaint only accuses Samsung
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televisions including Silicon Labs tuners and explicitly distinguishes between Samsung and other

respondents with products that incorporate MaxLinear tuners. (Id. at 8-11.) Samsung also

argues that Complainant’s discovery requests are explicitly limited to Samsung televisions

including Silicon Labs tuners because the definition of “Accused Products” in Complainant’s

discovery requests rely on the allegations in the Complaint. (Id. at l 1-13.) Samsung also states

that Complainant amended the Complaint to add infringement allegations against VIZIO

products including Silicon Labs tuners whereas the original Complaint only alleged infiingernent

by VIZIO products including MaxLinear tuners. (Id. at 17.) Samsung argues this amendment

undermines Complai.nant’sposition that it does not have to amend the Complaint to add

infringement allegations against Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners because

such allegations were implicit in the Complaint. (Id. at 18.)

C. Staff’s Response

Staff argues that the Notice of Investigation defines the scope of the Investigation. (Staff

Resp. at 2-3.) Staff argues that although the Complaint only identifies Samsung televisions

incorporating Silicon Labs tuners, the Notice of Investigation broadly defines the scope of the

Investigation as “‘certain television sets, television receivers, television tuners, and components

thereof’ that allegedly infringe certain enumerated claims of the asserted patents.” (Id. at 3

(quoting 79 Fed. Reg. 12526).) Staff argues that both Silicon Labs tuners and MaxLinear tuners

used in Samsung’s televisions are Withinthe scope of the Notice of Investigation. (Id. at 3.)

Staff notes that the Complaint even includes claim charts allegedly showing infringement by

MaxLinear tuners. (Id. at 3-4.) Staff argues that under these circumstances, Samsung had

reasonable notice that Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners would be at issue in

the Investigation. (Id. at 4.) Staff further argues that Complainant provided adequate notice that

Samsung television incorporating MaxLinear tuners would be at issue in the Investigation on
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May 19, 2014 by timely serving responses to Sa1nsung’s contention interrogatories alleging

Samsung’s televisions infiinge certain

claims of the asserted patents. (Id.)

Staff argues that Sanisung should only be required to produce annual sales figures (as

opposed to monthly) and that information regarding convoyed sales should not be produced.

(Id.) Staff also argues that information concerning televisions with non-infringing tuners is

relevant to the public interest and should be produced. However, Staff argues that given the

short life cycles of televisions, the temporal scope of such information should be limited to one

year prior to the filing of the complaint. (Id. at 5.)

II. ANALYSIS

“A party may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, that is relevant to . . .

the claim or defense of the party seeking discovery or to the claim or defense of any other party.”

19 C.F.R. § 2l0.27(b). “Discovery in a Section 337 investigation is not limited to specific

products identified in the Complaint. Instead, the scope of discovery is govemed by the Notice

of Investigation.” Certain Biometric Scanning Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-720, Order No. 10,

2010 WL 4786591, at *1 (Sept. 8, 2010) (citing multiple orders); see, e.g. Certain Wireless

C0mmc’n Equip, Articles Therein, & Prods. Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TAF577, Order

No. 14, 2007 WL 868887, at *1 (Jan. 11, 2007). Indeed, the scope of discovery has been held to

be “generally somewhat broader than the scope of the investigation itself.” Certain Integrated

Circuits, Chipsets, & Prods. Containing Same Including Televisions, Media Players, &

Cameras, Inv. No. 337-TA-709, Order No. 8, 2010 WL 4783037, at *6 (Jun. 18, 2010). “[T]he

complaint serves a notice function” and “can limit the scope of the complainant’s case against a

respondent” by serving notice that the “complainant intends to assert narrower relief than is
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included in the notice of investigation.” Certain Elec. Devices, Including Handheld Wireless

C0mmc’n Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-667, 2009 WL 1898249, at *5 (Jun. ll, 2009).

The scope of the Investigation is “certain television sets, television receivers, television

tuners, and components thereof’ that allegedly infringe certain enumerated claims of the asserted

patents.” Notice of Investigation, 79 Fed. Reg. 12526 (Mar. 5, 2014). Thus, Samsung

televisions including MaxLinear tuners are properly Withinthe scope of discovery provided

Samsung had adequate notice that such products would be part of the Investigation. See Certain

Elec. Devices, 2009 WL 1898249, at *5. Although the Complaint does not specifically identify

Samsung televisions incorporating MaxLinear tuners, MaxLinear tuners are identified as

allegedly infringing components and MaxLinear is named as a respondent. (Complaint at 111]1,

35.) Moreover, the Complaint included claim charts showing alleged infringement by exemplary

MaxLinear tuners as attachments. (Complaint, Exs. 47-48.) Complainant also timely identified

Samsung televisions as allegedly infringing products in response

to Samsung’s contention interrogatories. (Staff Resp. at 4.) Under these circumstances,

Samsung had adequate notice that its products incorporating the MaxLinear tuners would be

within the scope of the Investigation and therefore properly discoverable.

Samsung’s argument that the Complaint narrows the scope of the investigation by

distinguishing between respondents that use Silicon Labs tuners and MaxLinear tuners is not

persuasive. MaxLinear tuners are clearly identified as infringing components in the Complaint

and Samsung should have known any of its products that incorporate MaxLinear tuners would be

potentially infringing whether or not they were specifically identified in the Complaint.

Turning now to the discovery requests, Complainant’s motion with respect to

Interrogatoiy No. 13 is denied. Interrogatoiy No. 13 only seeks information concerning
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“Accused Products” and “Accused Products” is defined by reference to Exhibit 22 of the

Complaint, which only identifies Samsung products incorporating Silicon Labs tuners. Because

Interrogatory No. 13 explicitly seeks information relating only to products incorporating Silicon

Labs tuners, Sarnsung does not have to supplement its response with infonnation relating to

MaxLinear tuners.

Interrogatory Nos. 14-16 and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19 request infonrration

concerning “Accused Products” and products “that use similar accused technology as an

Accused Product.” Interrogatory No. 17 includes similarly vague and ambiguous requests for

information concerning “derivatives, equivalents, and variations of the Accused Products.”

Interrogatory No. 19 requests information concerning the incorporation of “any Tuner

Manufacturers’ Accused Product into one of your Accused Products.” (Mot., Ex. 1 at 12-13.)

Although the language used in the discovery requests is vague and ambiguous, Complainant

clarified during a meet and confer that it was seeking infonnation concerning all tuners,

including MaxLinear tuners. (Compl. Mot, Ex. 5 at 2, 9.) As discussed above, MaxLinear

tuners are properly within the scope of discovery. Therefore, Complainant’s motion with respect

to Interrogatory Nos. 14-17, 19 and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19 is granted. Samsung

shall produce information conceming its products incorporating the accused MaxLinear tuners

within seven days of the date of this Order.

Interrogatory Nos. 55-57 seek information concenring all Samsung televisions and tuners

incorporated therein imported into the United States. To the extent the interrogatories seek

infonnation concerning Samsung televisions incorporating Silicon Labs tuners and MaxLinear

tuners, Compla.inant’smotion is granted and Samsung shall produce any information not already
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produced in response to Interrogatory Nos. 14-17, 19 and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19

within seven days of the date of this Order.

The remainder of the motion is denied as premature. Samsung avers that Complainant

never requested a meet and confer on the issue of non-infringing tuners in violation of Ground

Rule 3.2. (Samsung Opp. at 5-6.) Samsung also avers that Complainant did not raise the issue

with the Discovery Committee until afier it filed its motion in violation of Ground Rule 4.1.1.

(Samsung Opp. at 2.) Because Complainant has not made a reasonable, good faith effort to

negotiate the scope of Interrogatory Nos. 55-57 as they relate to non-infringing tuners, that

portion of the motion is denied. However, information concerning non-infringing tuners appears

to be relevant to public interest considerations and therefore properly discoverable. The parties

are expected to cooperate in narrowing the scope of the requests in both subject matter and time

to obviate the need for further motion practice.

LDB

Motion Docket No. 910-009 is hereby GRANTED-IN-PART. Samsung shall produce

information concerning its products incorporating MaxLinear tuners responsive to Interrogatory

Nos. 14-17, 19, 55-57 and Requests for Production Nos. 16-19 within seven (7) days of the date

of this Order.

Within seven (7) days of the date of this Order, each party shall submit to the Office of

the Administrative Law Judges a statement as to whether or not it seeks to have any portion of

this document deleted from the public version. The parties’ submissions may be made by

facsimile and/or hard copy by the aforementioned date.

Any party seeking to have any portion of this document deleted from the public version

thereof must submit to this office a copy of this document with red brackets indicating any
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portion asserted to contain confidential business information. The parties’ submissions

concerning the public version of this document need not be filed with the Commission Secretary

SO ORDERED.

’DaLM/
Dee Lord
Administrative Law Judge
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